---

---

**25-CM-198**

---

**IN THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA  
COURT OF APPEALS**

Clerk of the Court  
Received 07/07/2025 09:05 AM  
Filed 07/07/2025 09:05 AM

---

**JIMMY JOHNSON**

*Appellant*

v.

**UNITED STATES OF AMERICA**

*Appellee*

---

**ON APPEAL FROM  
THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA**

**Case No. 2024-CF3-003007  
(Honorable Errol Arthur, Associate Judge)**

---

**BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

Keith B. Lofland  
D.C. Bar No. 490884  
2085 Lynnhaven Parkway  
Suite 106 Box 322  
Virginia Beach VA 23456  
757.904.3222  
[keithloflandlaw@gmail.com](mailto:keithloflandlaw@gmail.com)  
*Attorney for Appellant*

---

---

**STATEMENT REGARDING PAGE LIMIT**

**STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES**

I. Whether the Superior Court erred in denying Appellant's motion to sever his trial from his co-defendant where the substantial evidence of the co-defendant's culpability contrasted with overwhelming evidence adduced at trial that exculpated Appellant?

II. Whether the evidence was sufficient to sustain Appellant's conviction for assault where the exculpatory testimonial evidence from the government's complaining witness that Appellant interceded as a Good Samaritan in aid of that witness directly contradicted the government's theory that Appellant was a co-conspirator in the assault, robbery, and attempted carjacking of the complaining witness?

III. Whether the Superior Court erred in denying Appellant's motion to dismiss where Appellant was prejudiced by the government intentionally eliciting improper testimony from a police witness and where striking that testimony could not reasonably guarantee that the jury only considered evidence properly before it regarding Appellant's case?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Mr. Jimmy Johnson (“Appellant”) was charged with co-defendant Gregory Patterson<sup>1</sup> under a nine-count felony indictment of the following: Count 1 alleged armed carjacking, in violation of D.C. Code § 22-2803(b)(1) (2001); Counts 2, 4 and 6 alleged possession of a firearm during a crime of violence or dangerous offense, in violation of D.C. Code § 22-4504(b) (2001); Count 3 alleged robbery while armed, in violation of D.C. Code § 22-2801 (2001); Count 5 alleged assault with significant bodily injury, in violation of D.C. Code § 22-404(a)(2) (2001); Count 7 alleged unlawful possession of a firearm (prior conviction), in violation of D.C. Code § 22-4503(a)(1) (2001); Count 8 alleged possession of an unregistered firearm, in violation of D.C. Code § 7-2502.01(a)(X) (2001); and Count 9 alleged unlawful possession of ammunition, in violation of D.C. Code § 7-2506.01(3) (2001).

After a six-day jury trial, Mr. Johnson was convicted only of the assault charge under Count 5. Pursuant to a pretrial motion, Counts 7-9 were severed from the jury trial and Mr. Johnson entered a separate guilty plea to Count 7 alleging unlawful possession of a firearm by one with a prior conviction. For his

---

<sup>1</sup> See *United States v. Gregory Patterson*, Sup. Ct. D.C. No. 2024-CMD-001976.

convictions under Counts 5 and 7 of the indictment, Mr. Johnson was sentenced to 180 days incarceration, supervised release for 3 years, and a \$100 assessment to the Victims of Violent Crime Compensation Act fund on each count—the sentences ordered to run concurrently.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

The government's theory at trial was that on 11 June 2023, Mr. Johnson conspired with Co-Defendant Gregory Patterson, and two unidentified assailants to assault, rob, and attempt to carjack Mr. Nicholas Loukas.

### *Video of the Assault.*

The Government's evidence in support of this theory was principally conjecture drawn from CCTV camera footage from an adjacent building that captured video of Mr. Loukas being assaulted by co-defendant Patterson and the two unidentified assailants.

The CCTV footage showed that on 11 June 2023, at 09:58:18, Co-Defendant Patterson enters the camera frame and walks into the alley adjacent to 1612 Kenilworth Avenue NE. (1 October 2024 Tr. Transcript at 102; Government Exhibit (Gov. Exh.) 12) At 9:58:46, the reflection of light appears on a sign blocking the alley, consistent with headlights from a vehicle driving through the alley. (*Id.*) A person is then seen moving the sign out of the way. (1 October

2024 Tr. Transcript at 103) At 09:59:36, Mr. Loukas' vehicle drives through the alley and stops. (*Id.* at 102) Mr. Loukas exits his vehicle and walks toward the alley. (*Id.* at 102, 105) Co-Defendant Patterson approaches Mr. Loukas and they appear to be talking while two unidentified individuals are off to the side of the car. (*Id.* at 105-106; Gov. Exh. 12B)

Mr. Loukas then walks into the alley and briefly out of camera view. (Gov. Exh. 12) At 10:00:12, Mr. Loukas reemerges into camera view and Co-Defendant Patterson punches Mr. Loukas with his left hand, knocking him out of camera view. (*Id.*) Co-defendant Patterson takes a fighting stance and delivers another punch with his left hand. (*Id.*) Co-Defendant Patterson walks into the alley, out of camera view, and reemerges at 10:00:32, pushing Mr. Loukas onto the ground. (*Id.*) Mr. Loukas remains laying on the ground while Co-Defendant Patterson opened the driver's side door of Mr. Loukas' vehicle and appears to rummage through the driver's door panel and center console. (*Id.*)

Co-Defendant Patterson exits the vehicle and waves toward the alley, appearing to wave people toward him. (Gov. Exh. 12) Simultaneously, Mr. Loukas begins to get up and a pool of blood is seen on the sidewalk where his head was; and as he gets up he is visibly bleeding from his face. (*Id.*) Co-Defendant Patterson walks northbound on the sidewalk and out of camera view. (*Id.*) Mr.

Johnson then enters the frame and attempts to usher Mr. Loukas towards his driver's door. (*Id.*)

Co-Defendant Patterson then runs back into the camera frame, pulls the complainant by the back of his tank top away from the vehicle and appears to hold him while one of the unidentified suspects enters the front passenger seat area of the vehicle. (Gov. Exh. 12) Mr. Johnson positions himself between Mr. Loukas and Co-Defendant Patterson as Patterson appears to be yelling at Loukas and reaches for the left side of his waistband several times. (*Id.*) At 10:02:45, the two masked suspects appear to be attempting to pull Mr. Loukas out of the driver seat and Mr. Loukas pushes them off. (*Id.*) Simultaneously, Co-Defendant Patterson is seen in the front passenger seat, and then walks around to the rear driver side seat, opens the door, and throws Mr. Loukas' jacket on the sidewalk. (1 Oct. 2024 Tr. Transcript at 107-108; Gov. Exh. 12) Co-Defendant Patterson then completely enters the rear compartment of Mr. Loukas' vehicle and appears to be rummaging through it. (1 Oct. 2024 Tr. Transcript at 108; Gov. Exh. 12) The two, unidentified, masked suspects appear to be going through the driver's compartment and throwing objects on the ground while Mr. Johnson is standing next to the vehicle and suspects outside of the vehicle. (Gov. Exh. 12)

Mr. Johnson then speaks to Mr. Loukas and yells something towards one of the masked suspects, at which point that suspect appears to walk towards Mr.

Loukas and yell at him. (Gov. Exh. 12) All of the suspects then walk away and Mr. Loukas drives off. (*Id.*)

***Mr. Loukas' Account of the Assault.***

Mr. Loukas' account of the assault and robbery provided crucial amplifying context that made clear that Mr. Johnson's only role on 11 June 2023 was as a Good Samaritan interceding between Loukas and his assailants. Consistent with the CCTV footage, Loukas confirmed that evening he was driving down the alley when he encountered water barriers obstructing his way. (1 Oct. 2024 Tr. Transcript at 43) When he got out of his vehicle to move the barriers, he was approached by two masked men. (*Id.* at 43-44) One of the masked men pulled a gun on Loukas and demanded his jewelry; when he hesitated, he was assaulted by the two men and fought back. (*Id.* at 44-45) Loukas testified that at an unknown point during this struggle, a third individual emerged—who he believed to be Co-Defendant Patterson—and he heard Patterson yell something to the effect of “free car!” (*Id.* at 45) Mr. Loukas then broke free and ran to the driver's seat of his car and closed the door. (*Id.*) One of the masked assailants reached through the driver's window and the assailant who pulled the gun opened the passenger door. (*Id.*) The masked assailant at the driver's side reached into the car, pulled Loukas' hands off of his vehicle's steering wheel, pulled a ring off of his finger, and pulled a watch off of his wrist. (*Id.* at 45, 50) The armed assailant attempted to pull the

complainant out of the car from the passenger side. (*Id.* at 45) Simultaneously, Loukas heard Co-Defendant Patterson encouraging and instructing the two masked assailants, making comments to include “free car,” and “does he have any money?” (*Id.*)

While Loukas is being assailed by the two masked individuals, he hears Mr. Johnson urging the assailants to stop:

I'm still being hit by the other guy. I couldn't close the door because I don't have a left hand, but in the midst of it going on, Jimmy [Johnson] ends up saying to them to let me go, to get off of him, he not going to like that, he going to die about it, I respect him, let him go. They let me go.

(1 Oct. 2024 Tr. Transcript at 45) The government's direct examination of Loukas only emphasized that Mr. Johnson's sole role was trying to convince the assailants to leave Loukas alone:

Q After these two individuals, these two masked individuals began assaulting you, then what happened?

A I fought back, and then eventually I heard Jimmy telling them to stop.

Q Eventually, you heard Jimmy tell them to stop. Was he talking the entire time?

A I wouldn't say the entire time. Whenever I heard him, it's a lot going on. It's just in the midst of commotion. But, every time that I do hear him, it's as if he's telling them to stop or to get off or respect him and leave him alone; he's not about to give y'all anything.

(1 Oct. 2024 Tr. Transcript at 45) Crucially, Loukas was clear that Mr. Johnson was not involved in the assault or robbery on 11 June 2023:

Q Did you -- did you ever say that there were only three individuals involved?

A Yes.

Q Why is that?

A Because, Jimmy never touched me. At the end of the day, he was there, but he didn't touch me. So in my initial count, I'm not counting him. It's funny in my memory, because the other guy, I remember him being there but I don't remember him ever touching me, you know what I mean, because I didn't see the whole thing until after the fact. But, I don't know if it's because of the count, if I'm counting Jimmy then or if I'm not counting Jimmy and I'm not counting him because it's just the way it happened.

(1 Oct. 2024 Tr. Transcript at 49-50) Similarly, Loukas was clear—notwithstanding his initial contemporaneous account to police—that Mr. Johnson was not the individual that he heard encouraging the assailants:

Q So did you tell detectives that [Mr. Johnson] told them to take the car?

A Yes, but I don't believe that -- the way that that -- it wasn't him that said that. When I'm thinking about the sounds of the voices, it was something that was said in the midst of everything happening, but it wasn't his voice.

(1 Oct. 2024 Tr. Transcript at 86)

In summary, Mr. Loukas testified that he was neither assaulted, robbed, nor carjacked by Mr. Johnson on 11 June 2023, he never saw Mr. Johnson with a gun

that evening, and that he only heard Mr. Johnson trying to help him by urging the assailants to stop that evening. (2 Oct. 2024 Tr. Transcript at 45-47)

After Mr. Johnson interceded on Mr. Loukas' behalf, Loukas testified that all three assailants walked away and that he then drove away for his safety and drove himself to a local hospital for treatment for a large laceration above his left eye, requiring 10 stitches, along with scratches and small lacerations on his right hand. (2 Oct. 2024 Tr. Transcript at 6, 15) While at the hospital, Mr. Loukas contacted the police about the assault and robbery and reported the loss of several jewelry items he was wearing. (1 Oct. 2024 Tr. Transcript at 50-51)

Despite the contradictory accounts of whether Mr. Johnson had been properly identified as being involved in the assault and robbery of Mr. Loukas, and over the objections Mr. Johnson raised in his motion to sever the trials, (1 Oct. 2024 Tr. Transcript at 4), Mr. Johnson was jointly tried with Co-Defendant Patterson under a nine-count felony indictment of the following: Count 1 alleged armed carjacking; Counts 2, 4 and 6 alleged possession of a firearm during a crime of violence or dangerous offense; Count 3 alleged robbery while armed; Count 5 alleged assault with significant bodily injury Count 7 alleged unlawful possession of a firearm (prior conviction); Count 8 alleged possession of an unregistered firearm; and Count 9 alleged unlawful possession of ammunition. Pursuant to a pretrial consent motion, Count 7 alleging unlawful possession of a firearm by one

with a prior felony conviction, Count 8 alleging possession of an unregistered firearm, and Count 9 alleging unlawful possession of ammunition were severed from the jury trial due to those alleged offenses being distinct from the events of 11 June 2023 (30 September 2024 Tr. Transcript at 20-21)

***Trial Errors and Mr. Johnson's Motion to Dismiss.***

At trial, the government presented testimony from Detective Nicholas Koven, regarding the investigative steps the Metropolitan Police Department took in this case. (See e.g. 2 October 2024 Tr. Transcript at 62) Despite Counts 7, 8, and 9 related to the alleged firearms offenses having been severed from the trial and the trial court having admonished the government to avoid those issues, the government asked Detective Koven during its direct examination whether he had recovered a firearm during his investigation; Detective Koven answered in the affirmative. (2 October 2024 Tr. Transcript at 139) Mr. Johnson's prompt objection to the framing of this question prompted a length colloquy regarding whether the question improperly conflated the issues properly before the jury with those related to the severed charges:

MR. GIMENEZ: Yeah. Your Honor, the witness knew that this case was only about the June 11th incident, so I think in the moment he was obviously fast forwarding to the other date, which is not part of this case right here. So my questions were going to be about -- because, this is an armed carjacking case, armed robbery, et cetera.

THE COURT: But -- so you -- again, I've stricken the answer; right.

MR. GIMENEZ: Yeah. So it's the thoroughness of whether or not he found a gun on the scene.

THE COURT: But, you didn't ask that question. You asked him did you find a gun in this case, in a case that's been indicted, in a case where there was a firearm allegedly found, and you -- Mr. McCoy agreed -- no. Mr. McCoy filed the motion to sever those counts. You agreed to it. It was a preliminary issue. And then, you asked, again, an open-ended question. I gave you leeway to lead because we were going through -- I didn't use the word, minefields, but we were in a series of minefields and you asked him an open-ended question about this case. And here we are...

(2 October 2024 Tr. Transcript at 143-44) Mr. Johnson raised objections that any curative measures that the court could take would not mitigate the potential that the jury would confuse the legal issues at bar or conflate evidence of Co-Defendant Patterson's culpability with evidence of his limited role in the assault and robbery and moved for the charges to be dismissed:

MR. MCCOY: Your Honor, at this point I don't believe there's anything that the Court could say to the jury to cure the fact that he just said, oh, I found Mr. Johnson at Ms. Jones' house, and yeah, we found a gun in this case too. I mean, this is an armed carjacking case where they alleged -- they're alleging possession of a firearm during a crime of violence.

...

MR. MCCOY: Your Honor, what I would state is this is not an accidental utterance by a police officer. This was a leading question by the prosecutor. Did you find a gun in this case. The only non-perjurious answer was, yes.

That issue had already been litigated. The Government has agreed to sever it. Immediately asking that leading question after the question was, where was Mr. Johnson found in this case, cannot simply be chalked up to a mistake.

That is grossly negligent. So grossly negligent that it led a piece of evidence, the existence of a gun, come in front of the jury in a case of armed carjacking, armed robbery and PFCOV. That cannot be cured with a jury instruction. It simply cannot.

It was said out of the mouth of the prosecutor; did you find a gun. The cop said, yes. Right. You cannot say, disregard that. They cannot disregard it, specifically in this case.

Given that the jury cannot disregard that and given that it did not arise out of a mistake, but out of gross negligence, the only acceptable remedy at this point is to have this case dismissed with jeopardy attached and with prejudice.

(2 October 2024 Tr. Transcript at 144, 146-47; 3 October 2024 Tr. Transcript at 12-14) Although the trial court disagreed that the prosecutor had engaged in misconduct in posing the question to Detective Koven, it did agree that the question and response prejudiced both Mr. Johnson and Co-Defendant Patterson by introducing issues not properly before the jury. (3 October 2024 Tr. Transcript at 54-60) In light of this prejudice, the trial court struck Detective Koven's testimony in its entirety. (3 October 2024 Tr. Transcript at 63-64)

After the six-day trial, the jury convicted Mr. Johnson only on Count 5. (8 October 2024 Tr. Transcript at 5-8) Mr. Johnson subsequently entered a separate guilty plea to Count 7. For the convictions for Count 5 and Count 7, Mr. Johnson was sentenced on each count to 180 days incarceration, supervised release for 3 years, and a \$100 assessment to the Victims of Violent Crime Compensation Act

fund with the sentences ordered to run concurrently. (4 February 2025 Tr.

Transcript at 13-14)

Mr. Johnson now appeals his conviction for assault under Count V.

## ARGUMENT

### I. The Trial Court Erred in Denying Mr. Johnson’s Motion to Sever his Case from Co-Defendant Patterson.

Codefendants may be tried together “if they are alleged to have participated in the same act or transactions constituting an offense or offenses.” D.C. Code § 23-311. This court recognizes a presumption that persons jointly indicted together should be tried together. *Rollerson v. United States*, 127 A.3d 1220, 1226-1227 (D.C. 2015) (citing *Sousa v. United States*, 400 A.2d 1036, 1040 (D.C. 1979)).

This presumption may be rebutted where (1) there are “irreconcilable defenses so that the jury will unjustifiably infer that this conflict alone demonstrates that both are guilty,” *Johnson v. United States*, 398 A.2d 354, 368 (D.C. 1979) (citation omitted), (2) one codefendant is seeking to call a codefendant as an exculpatory witness, *id.* at 367-68, or (3) where the evidence against one of the parties is *de minimis*. *Russell v. United States*, 586 A.2d 695, 698 (D.C. 1991).

The trial court should grant severance “if there is a serious risk that a joint trial would compromise a specific trial right of one of the defendants, or prevent the jury from making a reliable judgment about guilt or innocence.” *Moore v.*

*United States*, 927 A.2d 1040, 1056 (D.C. 2007) (quoting *Zafiro v. United States*, 506 U.S. 534, 539 (1993)). This court reviews a trial court’s denial of a severance motion for abuse of discretion. *Hagans v. United States*, 96 A.3d 1, 40 (D.C. 2014). This court should reverse such a denial where a defendant shows that he suffered “manifest prejudice” as a result of being tried jointly. *Harrison v. United States*, 76 A.3d 826, 834 (D.C. 2013).

The contrasts are stark between this case and cases where this court has declined to find a trial court abused its discretion in denying severance based on disparities in culpability between co-defendants. For instance, in *Scott v United States*, 619 A.2d 917 (D.C. 1993), this court affirmed the trial court’s denial on severance in a prosecution for armed robbery and other offenses where two of the three victims identified the appellant from a photographic array, and two picked her out of a lineup. *Id.* at 930. Crucially, all three victims identified her in court as the female robber, and all three described how she assisted her male co-defendant in carrying out the robbery. *Id.* On that record, this court rejected the argument on appeal that the evidence against appellant Scott was *de minimis* in comparison with the evidence against her male co-defendant. *Id.*

Similarly, in *Elliott v United States*, 633 A.2d 27 (D.C. 1993), this court affirmed a trial court’s denial of severance where it found there was substantial evidence of the appellant’s motive for committing the charged murder and

involvement in the crime. *Id.* at 32. In that case, several witnesses testified that Elliott accused them of participating in a scheme with the victim to rob him and threatened them for doing so. *Id.* at 32-33. On the night of the murder, Elliott induced the victim to go to a designated location, and shortly thereafter, witnesses recounted hearing gunshots and seeing Elliott running with his co-defendant in an alley. *Id.* Another witness recounted that the co-defendant shot Kearney in the alley about that time. *Id.* Later, Elliott asked his co-defendant and an unindicted individual if they “did him”; and Elliott then confirmed what his co-defendant had said about what Elliott would pay him for the crime. *Id.* Given the strength of this evidence against Elliott, this court found that he could not meet the standard for demonstrating manifest prejudice based upon a claim that the evidence against him was *de minimis* when compared with that of his co-defendant. *Id.*

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