BRIEF FOR APPELLEE

DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA
COURT OF APPEALS

No. 25-CF-198

JIMMY JOHNSON,

Appellant,

v.

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,

Appellee.

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT
OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA
CRIMINAL DIVISION

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

The trial court did not commit plain error by failing sua sponte to sever Johnson's trial. Johnson never requested to sever his trial, the evidence—including a surveillance video—provided independent evidence of his guilt, and the jury was instructed to consider each defendant's guilt separately and render separate verdicts.

The trial court did not abuse its discretion by striking a detective's entire testimony and providing multiple curative instructions following his unanticipated response that he recovered a gun in this case, rather than dismissing the case with prejudice, after Johnson made clear that

he objected to a mistrial. And the jury's verdict acquitting Johnson of all armed charges demonstrates that he was not prejudiced by the detective's stricken testimony.

ARGUMENT

I. The Government Presented Sufficient Evidence to Convict Johnson of ASBI.

Johnson does not dispute the sufficiency of the evidence that Loukas suffered a significant bodily injury. He claims (at 21-24), however, that there was insufficient evidence of his intent to cause such injury. Johnson's claim is meritless.

A. Standard of Review and Applicable Legal Principles.

To persuade this Court to reverse a conviction on insufficiency grounds, a defendant "bears a heavy burden." *Hughes v. United States*, 150 A.3d 289, 305 (D.C. 2016). This Court "must review the evidence in the light most favorable to the government, giving full play to the right of the jury to determine credibility, weigh the evidence, and draw justifiable inferences of fact." *Simmons v. United States*, 940 A.2d 1014, 1026-27 (D.C. 2008) (internal quotation marks and citation omitted). The

trial evidence “need not compel a finding of guilt.” *Bullock v. United States*, 709 A.2d 87, 93 (D.C. 1998) (internal quotation marks and citation omitted). Moreover, “the jury is not bound to accept in full the scenario presented by either side.” *Leak v. United States*, 757 A.2d 739, 742 (D.C. 2000). “[R]eversal is warranted only where there is no evidence upon which a reasonable mind could infer guilt beyond a reasonable doubt.” *Phenis v. United States*, 909 A.2d 138, 163 (D.C. 2006) (internal quotation marks and citation omitted).

In relevant part, D.C. Code § 22-404(a)(2) provides that a person who “unlawfully assaults . . . and intentionally, knowingly, or recklessly causes significant bodily injury to another” commits the offense of ASBI. Intent “can be properly inferred from actions.” *In re D.P.*, 122 A.3d 903, 909 (D.C. 2015) (footnote and citation omitted).

B. Discussion.

There was sufficient evidence for the jury to convict Johnson of ASBI. As recounted above (at 6-10), in the midst of an ongoing group assault on Loukas, and after Patterson had already punched Loukas twice, Johnson pushed Loukas in the back of his head sufficiently hard that Loukas fell face first into the ground, unable to break his fall with

his arms. Loukas lay face-down on the ground for approximately 30 seconds before he slowly lifted himself to his knees, revealing a pool of blood on the sidewalk where his head had been. He stayed hunched over on his knees with his head down for another 30 seconds before he could stand again. This provided more than sufficient evidence for the jury to convict Johnson of ASBI.

Although his argument is somewhat difficult to parse, Johnson appears to argue that he did not intend to assault Loukas at all, and that, if he did, he did not have the requisite intent to cause significant bodily harm (see Brief of Appellant (Br.) at 28 (“Even if the CCTV footage could be constructed to support an argument that Mr. Johnson struck Loukas in the course of interceding on his behalf, the government produced no evidence that Mr. Johnson had the requisite intent to strike or cause harm to Mr. Loukas.”)). These arguments are meritless.

First, the surveillance video plainly shows Johnson pushing Loukas in the back of his head, causing Loukas to fall face first into the ground (Gov’t Ex. 12 at 10:00:30–:33). After he did so, Johnson did not go to Loukas’s aid or take any other actions consistent with his shove having been accidental. And the circumstances of the assault—a group assault

on Loukas, during which Patterson and two masked men repeatedly rifled through Loukas's car over a matter of minutes, and where Johnson never took any aggressive actions toward the other men—further supported the jury's finding that Johnson's assault was intentional and not the result of a mistake or accident. And insofar as Johnson appears to assert (at 4) that it was Patterson who shoved Loukas to the ground, he is incorrect: Loukas identified Johnson in the video as the individual wearing gray New Balance sneakers (10/1/24 Tr. 107-08, 124-25), and the surveillance video showed the man wearing gray New Balance sneakers—Johnson—shoving Loukas to the ground (Gov't Ex. 12 at 10:00:30–:33).

Johnson's argument that there was insufficient evidence of his intent to cause significant bodily injury ignores the well-established principle that intent "can be properly inferred from actions." *In re D.P.*, 122 A.3d at 909 (footnote and citation omitted); see *Wilson–Bey v. United States*, 903 A.2d 818, 839 n.38 (D.C. 2006) (en banc) (jury may infer from action the intent to cause the natural and probable consequences of that act). And it ignores that the statute may be violated where someone "recklessly causes significant bodily injury to another," D.C. Code § 22-

404(a)(2)—in other words, where the defendant is “aware of and disregarded the risk of significant bodily injury that his/her conduct created.” Criminal Jury Instructions for the District of Columbia, No. 4.102(A) (2024 ed.). *See Dorsey v. United States*, 902 A.2d 107, 113 (D.C. 2006); *Jones v. United States*, 813 A.2d 220, 225 (D.C. 2002) (“A person acts recklessly with respect to a material element of an offense when he consciously disregards a substantial and unjustifiable risk that the material element exists or will result from his conduct.”). Here, the surveillance video shows Johnson forcefully shoving Loukas from behind, causing him to fall face first into the ground before he could even extend an arm to break his fall (Gov’t Ex. 12 at 10:00:30–:33). A reasonable jury could infer that Johnson intended to cause significant bodily injury to Loukas—or, at a minimum, that he caused that injury recklessly—based on his conduct. *See, e.g., Vines v. United States*, 70 A.3d 1170, 1180 (D.C. 2013) (“a reasonable juror could have inferred the intent to cause bodily harm from [appellant’s] extremely reckless conduct, which was almost certain to cause bodily injury to another”).⁸

⁸ Johnson’s argument (at 22-24) that the evidence was insufficient to support a conviction under a conspiracy theory of liability is a red
(continued . . .)

II. The Trial Court Did Not Plainly Err By Not Severing Johnson’s Trial Sua Sponte.

Contrary to Johnson’s claim (at 13-17), the trial court did not plainly err by failing to sua sponte sever his trial where Johnson cannot show that “the very fairness and integrity of the trial” would have been jeopardized absent severance. (*Ronald) Perkins v. United States*, 446 A.2d 19, 27 (D.C. 1982).

A. Additional Background.

Before trial, Johnson moved to sever three firearm-related counts that he alone was charged with, but he did not move to sever his trial from Patterson’s (R.166-174 (Mtn. pp. 1-9)). As noted above (at 2), the trial court agreed to sever those counts.

Also before trial, the government filed a motion in limine seeking to introduce Loukas’s identifications of Johnson and Patterson when he was interviewed by a detective (R.186-88 (Mot. pp. 1-3)). Over Johnson’s

herring. Johnson is the one who directly caused Loukas’s significant bodily injury when he shoved him headfirst into the ground. Although the government relied on theories of accomplice liability when charging Johnson with armed carjacking and armed robbery, the jury acquitted him of those charges. And Patterson’s conviction for ASBI—for which the jury presumably relied on accomplice liability—is not at issue here.

and Patterson’s objection, the court ruled that with the “appropriate foundation,” the government could introduce the evidence “as statements for purposes of identification” (9/30/24 Tr. 24-25).

At trial, Johnson asked the court to reconsider this ruling and, for the first time, mentioned possibly severing his case from Patterson’s (10/1/24 Tr. 4-5). Renewing his objection to the government’s motion in limine, Johnson argued that, “if the prior identification were not allowed in,” he would have moved to sever Johnson’s trial because it “potentially could preclude [Loukas] from testifying against [him]” (*id.* at 4).⁹ Defense counsel asked the court “to, one, reconsider the motion in limine, and two, upon reconsideration, sever the defendants” (*id.* at 4-5). The court declined to revisit its ruling, stated the “issue is preserved,” and invited any appropriate objections during Loukas’s testimony (*id.* at 5). Johnson reiterated that he “wanted to preserve . . . what would have been my potential remedy had the Court ruled the other way” (*id.*).

⁹ It is unclear on what ground Loukas could have been precluded from testifying in a trial involving only Johnson, and defense counsel never explained how that could be so. Even if Loukas’s out-of-court identification had not come in as substantive evidence, he could have described the assault and Johnson’s role in it and identified Johnson in the surveillance video.

Loukas testified that during an interview with Detective Nicholas Koven, he identified Johnson in a still image taken from the surveillance video (10/1/24 Tr. 60-62; Gov't Ex. 7 (still image of Johnson)). Loukas confirmed that he “explain[ed] to detectives what [Johnson] did in this case” during that interview (10/1/24 Tr. 62). Next, Loukas was shown a video of the interview, which was marked for identification but not admitted into evidence, and confirmed again that he identified Johnson during the interview (*id.* at 63). Johnson objected that further testimony about the interview was improper impeachment because Loukas had “already identified [Johnson] in court and explained what he did” during the encounter (*id.* at 63-64). The court sustained the objection (*id.* at 67-68). At no point did Johnson move to sever his trial from Patterson’s.

B. Applicable Legal Principles and Standard of Review.

“When two or more defendants are charged with jointly committing a criminal offense, there is a strong presumption that they will be tried together.” *Harrison v. United States*, 76 A.3d 826, 833-34 (D.C. 2013) (citation omitted). Under Superior Court Rule of Criminal Procedure 12(b)(3)(D), a motion to sever defendants “must be raised by

pretrial motion[.]” Where a defendant does not move to sever his trial, his conviction will be reversed “only if the failure to sever sua sponte amounted to plain error so clearly prejudicial to substantial rights as to jeopardize the very fairness and integrity of the trial.” (*Ronald*) *Perkins*, 446 A.2d at 27 (citation omitted).

C. Discussion.

1. Johnson’s Claim is Unpreserved.

Johnson did not move to sever his trial from Patterson’s before trial, as Rule 12(b)(3)(D) requires, and he did not ask for that relief during trial. Thus, his claim that the trial court erred by failing to sever the defendants’ trials is reviewed only for plain error. *See Hawkins v. United States*, 119 A.3d 687, 703-04 (D.C. 2015); (*Ronald*) *Perkins*, 446 A.2d at 27.

Johnson’s scant reference to a hypothetical motion to sever did not preserve his claim. While asking the court to reconsider its earlier evidentiary ruling, Johnson added that “*if* the prior identification were not allowed in at this trial, the appropriate remedy *would be* [] severance” and that he “wanted to preserve . . . what *would have been* [his] *potential* remedy *had* the Court ruled the other way” (10/1/24 Tr. 4-

5 (emphasis added)). But the necessary condition Johnson articulated never materialized because the court declined to change its ruling (*id.*). And Johnson never asked the court to sever his trial from Patterson’s independently of its evidentiary ruling. Accordingly, he did not move to sever his trial.¹⁰ And the trial court never ruled on a motion to sever. *See Thorne v. United States*, 582 A.2d 964, 965 (D.C. 1990) (“A party who neglects to seek a ruling on his motion fails to preserve the issue for appeal.”).

Moreover, Johnson did not articulate his current argument (at 13-17) that severance was required because the evidence against him was de minimis, as would be required to preserve his claim. *See Timms v. United States*, 25 A.3d 29, 36 (D.C. 2011) (“an objection must sufficiently articulate the objecting party’s argument to preserve the claim on appeal”); (*Derrin*) *Perkins v. United States*, 760 A.2d 604, 609 (D.C. 2000) (specific objections are required to “enable the prosecution to respond to any contentions raised and to make it possible for the trial judge to

¹⁰ Johnson’s assertion (at 16) that he made “multiple motions” to sever his trial is incorrect. His pre-trial motion to sever firearm-related counts did not request to sever his trial from Patterson’s (R.166-174 (Mtn. pp. 1-9)).

correct the situation without jettisoning the trial.”) (citation omitted)).¹¹

Johnson’s severance claim is thus reviewed only for plain error.

**2. The Trial Court did not Plainly Err
by not Severing Johnson’s Trial Sua
Sponte.**

“Since [Johnson] never made a motion to sever,” his conviction may be reversed “only if the failure to sever sua sponte amounted to plain error so clearly prejudicial to substantial rights as to jeopardize the very fairness and integrity of the trial.” (*Ronald) Perkins*, 446 A.2d at 27 (citation omitted). Here, the trial court did not plainly err by failing to sever Johnson’s trial sua sponte.

The surveillance video showed that, throughout what appeared to be a robbery and/or carjacking of Loukas, Johnson’s conduct was interwoven with that of Patterson and the masked men. Johnson entered the alley shortly before Patterson and presumably stood nearby when

¹¹ The court’s comment that “the issue is preserved” appears to have referred to Johnson’s challenge to its evidentiary ruling, not the hypothetical severance motion that Johnson would have made had the court declined to admit Loukas’s out-of-court identification of Johnson (10/1/24 Tr. 5). In any event, the determination whether a claim is properly preserved for appeal is one made by this Court, not the trial court.

Patterson wound up and punched Loukas twice (Gov't Ex. 12 at 10:00:10–:19); indeed, Johnson shoved Loukas to the ground just 10 seconds later (*id.* at 10:00:30–:32). After the shove, Johnson left Loukas bleeding from his head, face down on the pavement, and casually walked back into the alley (*id.* at 10:00:33–:36). During the minutes that followed, Johnson remained nearby and appeared to speak with the other assailants, at times pushing Loukas towards the driver's seat (*id.* at 10:01:27–:38) or placing a hand on Patterson when he grabbed Loukas by the neck (*id.* at 10:01:37–:40), but consistently returning to the alley instead of intervening as Patterson and the masked men rifled through Loukas's car looking for items to take (*id.* at 10:01:38–:53). When Johnson again exited the alley, he idly watched from no more than a few feet away for nearly a minute as Patterson and the masked men pulled at Loukas in the driver's seat and threw his belongings on to the sidewalk (*id.* at 10:03:43–10:04:45).

Based on this evidence, the court had no reason to sua sponte sever Johnson's trial. The video supplied "independent evidence of [Johnson's] guilt, and the jury was properly instructed to consider each defendant's guilt separately and render separate verdicts." *Sheffield v. United States*,

111 A.3d 611, 627 (D.C. 2015) (cleaned up); (see 10/7/24 Tr. 28-29 (jury instructions)). Therefore, Johnson cannot show “manifest prejudice resulting from the joinder” of his case with Patterson’s. *Sheffield*, 111 A.3d at 627.

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